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PROLOGUE:


    


    DIFFERENT CURRENTS




    A SOFT CLICK broke the silence as the policeman hand-cuffed the doctor to the metal arm of a chair. Lieutenant Whitehead looked down at a bruised and exhausted Dr Neil Aggett. He waited a moment and, when Neil did not respond, he turned away from the chair. They had used it so often it had begun to brown with rust. Whitehead’s assistant plugged the cord into the nearest socket in a corner of room 1012 at John Vorster Square, the security police headquarters in downtown Johannesburg.




    Sergeant Chauke, a black policeman, handed over the white towelling hood. Neil felt its wet and suffocating heaviness as Whitehead covered his face and head. It worked as both a blindfold and a mask. Whitehead tied the hood so tightly around him that it was difficult for Neil to breathe.




    The first shock, when it came, made him scream compulsively. It lit up his body in a flaring sheet of pain. As he screamed, the bag was sucked deep into his mouth. It became impossible to breathe. Neil did not know if they planned to electrocute or suffocate him to death when, suddenly, they turned off the power.




    His body was still juddering as they dragged the bag off his head. Tiny drops of moisture clung to his beard.




    They asked him some more questions and then covered and wet his head again. It was worse the second time, and then the third as well, because they lengthened the period of each electrocution. He tried to stop himself from screaming, so that he might be able to breathe inside the bag, but he was helpless. The current surged through him . . .




    IN THE DRY SUMMER of 1982, at the end of another year of apartheid, I could not shake the images from my head. The details had been exposed during the inquest into the death earlier that year of Neil Aggett, the only white South African ever to die in detention. Security policemen had used electricity to torture Aggett, a twenty-seven-year-old white doctor who had been detained with his girlfriend, Liz Floyd, another doctor, in November 1981.




    Ian McRae, my father, would soon be known as ‘Mr Electricity’ in South Africa. He was on his way to becoming the chief executive of Eskom, the state-owned electricity company; but he didn’t care about his title. Dad had a grander vision in mind. People in our black and white land needed to understand that electricity was colourless. It was a great, jolting force for good.




    My father had begun to dream of a different South Africa, of a country saved by the healing power of electricity. Whenever he flew back to Johannesburg at night, dad always put his briefcase away near the end of his flight. In his window seat he stared into the African night. Dad picked out the distant pinpricks of light, marvelling at the way they broke up the empty sky. The gleaming city rose up as if one layer of darkness after another was being peeled from the eyes of a blind man who could finally see.




    When they hovered over Johannesburg’s vast galaxy of electricity, with illuminated skyscrapers shining down on the brightly-lit streets and houses, dad felt surging pride. ‘Look at this,’ he called out to his colleagues, encouraging them to join him at the small window so they could also see how their work helped light up the largest city in Africa.




    He felt uneasy only when he looked towards Soweto, where a million black people lived. The township appeared to be covered by a blanket at night. Only a low glow here and there, coming from smouldering coal-fires, punctuated the blackness.




    Dad faced more immediate trouble at home.




    At war with my parents, I insisted I would never start my compulsory two years of military service. Mom and dad tried to help me. They persuaded me to see a series of psychiatrists in an effort to break the deadlock. I was young, and so I surrendered. I visited three doctors, telling each one of them that I was utterly sane. I would rather leave the country forever, or go to jail or even die, than step into the uniform of the South African Defence Force. I was ready to abandon my family and never come back.




    The last doctor seemed confused in her strange, blue-walled room. She held individual sessions with my parents and my sister, Heather, to discuss me and my problem with the army. In one session the doctor recommended that I be given ECT [Electro-Convulsive Therapy]. The doctors believed they might need to shock sense into me. It was one possible treatment for a white boy who refused to serve in the South African army.




    I did not believe my parents would ever allow electrodes to be pinned to the side of my head. My dad, a compassionate connoisseur of electricity, would resist the shuddering shortcut. And my mother, being so strong and kind, would not stand the idea that, to neuter me, a chunk of my brain should be burned.




    My sister was less certain. ‘You’ve got to be careful,’ she warned.




    Dusk settled over our home town on that long summer evening. I stared into the gathering darkness, my head reeling as I tried to understand how we had ended up so shocked and traumatised.
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      Beware of the natives. The Transvaal, South Africa, the 1960s


    








  



    

       

    




    CHAPTER ONE





    A BOY CALLED JOHN




    THE OLD GREY Holden picked up speed as we went looking for a black boy. On that early Saturday morning in the South African spring of 1966 I rode upfront, next to dad, while our dog stood excitedly in the back. Her furry paws rested on dad’s seat as she gazed out of his open window. Shandy’s long ears, which we pinned above her head with a plastic peg whenever she buried her face in a bowl of dog food, flew behind her in the wind. She looked as if she was grinning as we headed towards the coal dumps where the mining boys had been waiting since dawn.




    On weekends they tried to pick up extra work in pretty white gardens like ours at number 7 Dahlia Street in Witbank, an Afrikaans coal-mining town in the south-eastern Transvaal. I thought the black miners were lucky to become garden boys for a day, especially if they caught my dad’s eye when he wound down his window and shouted out, ‘Woo-hoo, John!’




    Dad, being so tall, had folded himself into the front seat as if he was a spring that had been pushed down into a box. He wore a short-sleeved checked shirt, cream shorts, long fawn-coloured socks and shiny brown shoes that had been polished so brilliantly by Maggie, our black servant, they doubled as mirrors. You could smile at yourself when you looked down at dad’s shoes. Meanwhile, up top, his short-back-and-sides was kept in place by a lick of Brylcreem. It left a dark oily patch on the upholstery above his head.




    I wanted to be like dad. Even if I preferred flip-flops to socks and shoes, I wore the same checked shirt and shorts. My hair was also shaped in a neat Brylcreem bop and, just like dad, I leaned back in the front seat on another gorgeous South African morning.




    ‘Breathe in deeply,’ dad murmured after reminding me that we lived in the most beautiful country in the world. ‘Doesn’t it make you feel good to be alive?’




    I filled my little lungs with the crisp air and nodded. It felt wonderful.




    ‘We’re very lucky to live here,’ dad said.




    We were on the hunt for a black boy in Witbank which, in English, meant ‘White Bank’. But the dirt streets around our house were named after English-sounding flowers – Amaryllis, Dahlia, Gladioli and Iris. In Dahlia Street, mom and Heather, my big sister, who was three years older than me, were at home. They were getting ready for the weekend as Maggie washed our breakfast dishes.




    I loved sitting next to dad, rather than being in the back with Heather or Shandy. Dad, as usual, was in a good mood as we cruised along Watermeyer Street, the main road leading out of town. I hummed along as he impersonated a rough-voiced black man, Louis ‘Satchmo’ Armstrong, and sang his favourite song:




    

      

        

            

              Hello, Dolly


              This is Louis, Dolly


              It’s so nice to have you back where you belong


              You’re looking swell, Dolly


              I can tell, Dolly


            


          


      


    




    I laughed every time he followed a pause at the end of a line with that punchy catchphrase of ‘Dolly!’ And dad then sang it again so he could swap ‘Dolly’ for ‘Donny’ and pretend he was singing about a little South African boy rather than some swell-looking woman from America.




    He was a very clever man. Everyone knew that in 1961, just before I was born, dad became the youngest-ever power station manager in South Africa. He was the big boss at Komati Power Station, in the middle of nowhere, between two Afrikaans towns called Middleburg and Bethel. But we moved to Witbank when dad was given something he called ‘a promotion’ at Eskom – the country’s electricity supply commission.




    Dad was very proud of Eskom. He always reminded us that Eskom gave us light. Eskom gave us warmth. Eskom, dad said, gave us something magical: electricity. Dad loved that word; and his company. He said we would be lost without electricity and so he often pointed out the streetlights and giant pylons. They all carried electricity from Eskom.




    His new office was just a few blocks away from our house. Most weekdays, he came home for lunch. Heather would be at school but I sat with mom and dad at the dining room table. I liked it most when mom made us toasted sandwiches and sprinkled cheese and onion crisps on the sides of our plates.




    Every lunchtime that week mom and dad had listened to our red radio. They were quiet and I was worried. Sensing my confusion, they tried to explain to me what had happened.




    Four days earlier, on 6 September, 1966, our Prime Minister, Dr Hendrik Verwoerd, had been killed in Cape Town, a thousand miles from where we lived. He was in parliament – where they made all our country’s laws. Just after two o’clock on that Tuesday afternoon a mad man with a Greek name, Dimitri Tsafendas, had walked quickly towards Dr Verwoerd. The Greek man was a messenger in the house of laws. That day he had carried his message, a large knife, inside his jacket.




    The mad man used the knife to stab our prime minister four times in the chest.




    Other men pulled him away and knocked the knife out of his hand. But it was too late. Dr Verwoerd was dead even before they got him to hospital.




    A strange word, ‘assassinated’, hissed like a snake from my parents’ radio. Dr Verwoerd, dad said, had been assassinated.




    In the car I asked dad about the Greek man. Why was he such a bad man? Dad held the steering wheel he had covered with sheep-skin to keep it cool on hot summer days. I liked the way he turned his head to look at me sitting so small in the seat next to him. We drove free and easy in those days, without buckling up, and dad closed his window so he could talk to me.




    Dad said there were all kinds of people in the world. Most of us were good; but some were bad or even mad. Dimitri Tsafendas was a dangerous man. His father was white but his mother was not Greek. She was black. I was shocked. People still thought that Dimitri was light enough to be white. But he wanted to be called a ‘Coloured’. He wanted to become ‘non-white’. I was puzzled. White people were happy. White people drove cars and lived in houses like ours on Dahlia Street.




    Maggie lived in the maid’s room at the bottom of our garden. But most natives, black and coloured and Indian people, lived in places called locations. Their houses were tiny and made out of corrugated iron. They could not catch the same trains or buses as us. They hardly went to school and, if they did, they were a long way from Robert Carruthers Primary – where Heather was in Standard One and where I would join her in four months time. They could not sit on a bench in the park or swim in a pool. I could not understand why the Greek man wanted to become a ‘Coloured’.




    Dimitri Tsafendas said a tapeworm in his stomach had made him kill Hendrik Verwoerd. He said it was the tapeworm of truth. The tapeworm was hungry. It made him stab our prime minister.




    I was frightened. Did I have a tapeworm in my tummy? Dad shook his head and smiled. There were no tapeworms in our family.




    The yellow veld around us looked dry and empty. It stretched out as far as I could see. Nothing seemed alive. Even the big black birds perched on top of the steel pylons didn’t move. In the back seat, our little cocker spaniel also lay still. But I knew Shandy wasn’t dead. She was just asleep.




    Eventually, the coal dumps rose up like dark mountains. The silver colliery silos glinted against the blackness of the dumps. Hand-operated conveyor belts shuttled the coal from the silos to the open-backed yellow trucks which, on a Saturday morning, were silent.




    We could see hundreds of natives in the hazy distance. They waited on both sides of the dirt strips lining the tarred road. As we came closer and closer some of them waved – hoping that we would stop and choose them.




    An old man cupped his hands. He looked more sad than hopeful that we might pick him. ‘Look at that boy,’ I laughed. ‘He’s too old to work in our garden.’




    My father knew the kind of garden boy he wanted and so, having opened his window again, he leaned over and made his familiar cry: ‘Woo-hoo, John!’




    As a smiling black boy ran across the road I asked dad a question: Why were all black boys called John?




    ‘He’s not called John,’ dad said. ‘It’s just better to call him “John” than “boy”’




    The miner reached our car. ‘Hello, master,’ he said.




    ‘Hello, John,’ dad answered. ‘You work hard, John?’




    John nodded eagerly. ‘Yes, master . . .’




    Natives always called my parents ‘master’ and ‘madam’. ‘OK,’ dad said, opening the back door. The black boy slid into the Holden. ‘Morning, baasie [little master],’ he said softly to me. His white teeth shone in their pink gums.




    I did not say hello to John. Instead, I stared at his black skin and noticed that the inside of his hands were much paler. Smelling the stale sweat on his body, I wrinkled my nose, and wondered if, underneath his dusty T-shirt, an even darker tapeworm moved inside him. Shandy crept around the side of the front passenger seat and lay quietly at my feet.




    At home she would leap around cheerfully if she saw a white person. But black boys made Shandy whimper or bark. She raced up and down, woofing alongside our low garden wall, whenever a native walked past. Shandy knew they were different from us.




    John needed a good wash. But I knew dad would never invite him to use our shower. Boys like John knew their place – just like Maggie understood she had to scrub our bathroom without ever standing beneath the shower’s jets of hot water or, even worse, stretching out in our clean white bath. We could sack her on the spot if she dared be so cheeky. But Maggie was a good girl. She washed herself in a metal tub outside her room in our backyard.




    Maggie was waiting for us when we got home. She greeted the boy in a funny language and did what mom told her to do. She made John a mug of tea while he walked round the garden with my parents. Mom did most of the talking, telling John where he needed to weed and trim the edges, while dad got out the handheld lawn-mower that would cut the grass down the side and in front of our house. They listed all the other jobs he needed to do that day.




    ‘Yes, madam,’ John said to mom. ‘Yes, master,’ he said to dad.




    I slipped away because, with Heather and the McKenzie boys who lived next door, we were hiking out to the quarry again. We loved the deep red hole of earth because it felt as if the quarry belonged just to us. Even the walk there was an adventure, from the moment we stuffed a khaki rucksack with a beaker of Oros orange squash, sandwiches, sliced biltong, naartjies, condensed milk piekies [sachets] and a box of our favourite biscuits: Romany Creams.




    The McKenzie boys led the way as we crossed the wide patch of veld opposite our houses. The grass was up to my waist as we waded through it, like explorers. Heather and the boys chatted away while I followed silently, just glad to be included.




    It usually took us an hour to reach the abandoned quarry. But we always stopped first at a large cement water reservoir, which marked our halfway point, and had a plastic cup of squash and a couple of Romany Creams each. That morning, however, we had not even made it to the reservoir when one of the McKenzie boys nearly stepped on a snake. It disappeared too quickly for them to see it properly – but we did not dare move for the next minute in case it was a rinkhals, a ring-necked spitting cobra, or a far deadlier puff adder. Eventually, turning round to look at us, the oldest boy, Mac, grinned.




    ‘It’s gone,’ he said.




    Heather and the boys started to walk forward carefully but I refused. ‘Come on,’ my sister urged. ‘It’s safe now.’




    I shook my head. I didn’t care if they walked all the way to the quarry. I knew a rinkhals could jump out when you least expected it. Dad had told us how, at Komati, he had once hit a rinkhals by mistake while driving mom’s white MG. The snake was so smart it managed to flip itself up and coil around the open metal hubcap. Dad said he’d had a devil of a job getting him out. You could never take a chance with a rinkhals.




    Heather and the McKenzie boys tried to coax me forward, but I wouldn’t move. Ten minutes passed and the three older children became angry with me – a small serious-faced boy with slicked-back blond hair. I had not taken a single step forward.




    When they could stand it no longer they gave up. Heather said we might as well go home. I nodded happily. I had ruined the day but at least I hadn’t been bitten by a rinkhals or a puff adder. I munched cheerfully on another Romany Cream Heather had pressed into my hand.




    When we reached our house I heard John, the mining boy, singing a lullaby in the garden. Maggie called to him from the kitchen window, and they both laughed. I wondered if they guessed I was too frightened to walk to the quarry.




    Later that day I watched Maggie make John his lunch. She cut off the two thick ends of a brown loaf and smeared the hunks with peanut butter – just the way a black boy liked it. Maggie placed the bread and a green apple on a yellow enamel plate and filled a tin cup with cold water. I carried the plate out into the garden while Maggie followed me with the water she was careful not to spill. She said John would be very thirsty after working hard in the baking sun. He would have another mug of tea once he had cooled down and finished eating.




    John had ripped off his shirt. His black skin shone with fresh sweat. ‘Thank you, baasie,’ he said.




    I sat under the shade of an apple tree at the bottom of the garden and whistled to Shandy. She ambled over, her tail wagging, and sat down heavily beside me. Shandy licked my hand with her pink tongue, as if she could guess the kind of rough morning I’d just had.




    John knew he could not lie next to me and my dog. Ten feet away from us, on the freshly mown grass, he took a large bite from his peanut butter sandwich.




    He had switched on the sprinkler and, while he chewed, John watched the spray arc back and forth across the lawn. Shandy ran towards the sprinkler. She put her furry face close to the metal line of tiny holes shooting their tracers up into the clear blue sky before they curled back down to the ground. Shandy kept opening and snapping her mouth shut as she tried to bite big chunks out of the sprinkler. Her face became wet as she barked and bit the water.




    I might have laughed had John not started chuckling first. For a moment I almost joined him until I remembered the difference between us. I was white. He was just a native. He was a boy and I was the baasie. Shandy was my dog and he was laughing at her.




    ‘You’re the stupid one,’ I shouted.




    John stared at me. His half-eaten peanut butter sandwich curled in his hand. I could not help myself. ‘I’m telling the master,’ I said as, tugging at Shandy, I pulled my shivering dog away from the sprinkler and the black boy.




    John pushed aside his enamel plate and shook his head. But I knew he had done wrong.




    In the cool of the kitchen I let Shandy loose. She shook herself dry while Maggie tutted as water sprayed across the floor she had just wiped. I told Maggie that John was a stupid boy. She started to hum quietly to herself, as if she had not even heard me.




    ‘John is a stupid boy,’ I said again.




    Maggie looked down at me. She must have been my mother’s age, in her late thirties, but she was not as smartly dressed as mom. Maggie wore red slippers, a pink checked overall and a white doek [scarf] on her head. Her slippers were always on her feet, whether she was working in the house or walking to the corner shop. She also had a big gap between her front teeth. Once, when I was much smaller, I had sat on the iron grid of the drain outside. I liked the way that water from the dripping tap bounced off my knee. But, after a few minutes, I’d run screaming into the kitchen because a small army of red ants had marched into my underpants and bitten hard. Maggie had stripped me and wiped every last ant off my bare bottom. And then she had dried my tears and sliced some chunks of peeled apple to keep me sweet.




    ‘I’m going to tell the master about John,’ I warned.




    ‘His name is not John,’ Maggie said quietly. ‘His name is . . .’




    She said an African name so quickly I could not understand her.




    I went back into the garden. Shandy followed me out into the heat, panting every step of the way. John was singing again. He must have known that I had not said anything to dad. The sun beat down and the boy grinned and held his black thumb aloft. I did not know what else to do, so I lifted my own thumb. It looked small and pale in the African sun.




    THE DAYS SLID PAST under blue skies and in sunlit gardens. I swam in the local pool and climbed trees and walked with Heather and Shandy to the closest shop where they sold Chappies bubblegum. Sometimes, if you got lucky, the shopkeeper would run out of five cent pieces and so, instead of change, he’d slip you a couple of small squares of pink bubblegum in bright yellow wrappers covered by blue and red stripes and the head of a chipmunk.




    When my sister and I opened the wrappers and popped the gum into our mouths we chewed and chewed and then blew out our cheeks so that we looked exactly like Chappie Chipmunks as we tried to make huge white bubbles in the air. And when that worked for Heather but not for me we turned back to the inside of the empty wrappers where three questions would be listed under a heading of Did You Know? We loved the questions almost as much as the gum.




    ‘Did you know,’ Heather read as we chewed and walked slowly back to Dahlia Street, ‘that all the swans in England are owned by the Queen?’




    ‘Yes,’ I said.




    ‘Liar,’ Heather replied, not fooled for a second as she blew another bubble. It got bigger and bigger until it popped and left stringy strands of gum all over her face. She pulled them back into her mouth and began to chew all over again.




    ‘Did you know,’ she asked again, reading from her Chappies wrapper, ‘that the longest case of hiccups lasted thirty-seven years?’




    I couldn’t believe it. Heather had once had hiccups for two days, when we were on holiday at the coast. We had taken her to the doctor in the end because holding her breath, drinking a glass of water through the side of her mouth and giving her a great big skrik [fright] couldn’t stop her hiccupping. The doctor, somehow, cured her.




    Heather had already moved on to her last question. ‘Did you know,’ she asked, ‘that coconuts kill more people in the world than sharks?’




    It didn’t matter. I would always be more frightened of a shark than a coconut; and I shivered at the thought of a Great White or even a hammerhead closing in on my dangling legs in the sea. Heather said we didn’t have to worry about either sharks or coconuts in Witbank.




    Chappies were as delicious as they were full of incredible facts. But there were some questions they would never dare print inside a yellow Chipmunk wrapper. Heather asked me one of them. Did I know that John Lennon had said the Beatles were bigger than Jesus?




    Heather loved pop music and so I had heard of The Beatles. I even knew some of their songs. But I couldn’t believe that they had said they were more famous than Jesus. My parents, who took us to church every Sunday, shook their heads. At least the government did their best to protect us. John Vorster, our new prime minister who looked like a bullfrog, banned the Beatles’ records. If The Beatles ever dared visit South Africa they would be locked up in jail. They would be taught not to say anything bad about Jesus.




    At Sunday School, Heather and I learnt a lot about Jesus and the Bible. But it was far harder stepping out on my first day of proper school when, in January 1967, I pulled on my khaki shirt and short trousers and held my mom’s hand tightly as she walked me and Heather from Dahlia Street. Heather was about to go into Standard Two, and her fourth year of school, and she swung her little brown case cheerfully as she walked just ahead of us in her gingham dress.




    I was determined not to cry. But it became more difficult when little boys and girls around me burst into tears in the school hall after we were told to say goodbye to our parents and join a line for all Grade 1 pupils. I thought about peeing in my underpants but decided, instead, to leave my mom without a word. She would later tell dad how brave I had been. It suddenly seemed worth it.




    Settling quickly at school, I was happy and cheerful. But then, in April 1967, just after my sixth birthday on a cool autumn evening, dad came home from work and told mom that he had some news. I heard them talking in the kitchen while I kicked a ball in the hallway outside. The plastic ball bounced against a wall but their conversation sounded important. Picking up my ball, I stood quietly at the half-opened door.




    I heard dad say it would be an even bigger job for him in Johannesburg. Mom sounded pleased but, like a Chappies wrapper, she was full of questions: When would we leave? Where would we live? What would we do about school? Would we be able to buy our own house at last?




    Through the crack in the doorway I watched Maggie peel potatoes at the sink. Her gaze never left her work as she stripped long curls of brown skin from potatoes turning white in her hands. But I knew she was listening as she washed the skinless potatoes in cold water. Her head, like mine, must have been spinning.




    I burst into the kitchen then. I didn’t want to leave Witbank. I didn’t want to go to Johannesburg. The words came out in a tearful rush. Maggie smiled sadly at me. She knew how I felt.




    Dad knelt down low so that he could become almost as small as me. His tie bounced gently in front of me as he rocked on his haunches.




    We wouldn’t have to live in Johannesburg, dad said. We were going home to Germiston.




    I was confused. Witbank was home. But dad reminded me that he and mom had been born in Germiston, as I had been too. Everything had begun for our family in Germiston. My four grandparents had left Scotland after World War I and ended up in Germiston – close to Johannesburg.




    I loved my grandparents, especially my dad’s dad, Granddad George, but I tried to think of another excuse to stop our move. ‘What about Shandy?’




    Mom laughed. Shandy, of course, would live with us in Germiston.




    ‘And Maggie?’ I asked.




    ‘We’ll talk to Maggie,’ dad said, ‘once you’ve gone to bed.’




    Maggie Thabang had been born in Witbank and lived her whole life in a town of black coal dumps and white Afrikaners. But she had become part of our family – even if she was not allowed to use our cups and plates, our knives and forks. Maggie slept in a brick room away from the house at the bottom of our garden.




    She still belonged to us. Maggie was our girl; and I could not bear the thought of losing her.
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      George McRae (1898–1974), World War I soldier and grandfather


    








  



    

       

    




    CHAPTER TWO





    SOLDIER STORIES




    TEN MILES FROM Johannesburg, criss-crossed by train tracks and surrounded by abandoned gold mine dumps, Germiston was not the prettiest town on earth. It looked cold and hard on a bright winter day. But our new home in the leafy suburb of Lambton was different. It was as beautiful as it was enormous – a white double-storey mansion with four tall pillars and a pale green balcony at the front. Two towering fir trees stood like sentries on either side of the house.




    The glass doors from the lounge opened onto a patio and a huge garden. I already knew that in this garden, and in my head, I would score goals for South Africa in a World Cup final, as well as a dazzling try against the All Blacks, before hitting the winning runs against Australia. A creaking swing, shaded by a berry tree, offered the perfect place to dream up such moments.




    Behind the swing, and purple trails of bougainvillea, an ivy-lined alley took you past the double garage and down to the cement backyard where there was a white wall against which Heather and I could smack tennis balls as long as we liked. Dad said the ivy covering the lower wall would work as a dark green net. On the day we moved to Germiston, in July 1967, in the afternoon sunlight streaming through the overhanging fig trees, our new court looked gorgeous.




    On the corner of Cachet Road, at number 24, we had only one set of neighbours. Frikkie and Leenie Oosthuizen, a middle-aged Afrikaans couple, had already popped over with rusks and melktert [milk tart] to say how pleased they were that they now lived next door to a couple of children. Heather and I scowled shyly.




    We were more interested in a long curved banister. The polished handrail was wide enough for me to sit on as I slid down two flights of stairs to the ground floor where, beyond the lounge, there was a study, a dining room, a kitchen and a laundry for two maids to do our washing and ironing. With four bedrooms and a sewing room upstairs we had masses of space; but we knew Maggie would sleep outside, behind our imaginary tennis court.




    A narrow corridor led to her room. It was opposite a dark alcove where, dad said, we would store coal and wood for the fires we’d light on winter nights. Maggie’s room was small and crammed with her cases and boxes. In the middle of the muddle, Maggie and one of the black removal men had laid out four piles of bricks and, when I crept inside, they were carefully lifting up her bed. Each of the metal legs would rest on its own sets of bricks. There were eight bricks per pile which meant that, once they had settled it securely, Maggie’s bed would be two feet above the ground.




    Maggie had done exactly the same in her room in Witbank. She told me that she needed to be kept safe from the Tokolosh, an evil dwarf that could be sent to torment her by the witchdoctors. As long as she slept a long way from the floor he would not be able to reach the bed and attack her. Heather and I had once been terrified of the Tokoloshe; but in Witbank we had grown used to the story of the little man. We were more fascinated by climbing onto Maggie’s steepling bed. It felt surprisingly steady on its makeshift stand of bricks.




    I was happy that Maggie had chosen to leave her family so she could live with us in Germiston. After the black boy had gone back inside the house to unload the rest of our containers I asked Maggie if she would help Heather and me put our own beds on bricks. We would then also be perched too high for the Germiston Tokoloshe to take us away in our sleep. Maggie told me not to be so silly. There was only one Tokoloshe. He was not interested in white children.




    Maggie quietly unpacked the rest of her possessions. She placed two small photo frames on the cardboard box next to her bed. The black and white photographs were of her children. I stared at the little natives. Maggie said they were being cared for by their grandmother. I told her not to look sad. She had me and Heather.




    Before I left I sneaked another peek under Maggie’s bed. The Tokoloshe was nowhere to be seen. I still raced past the coal hole, just in case he was hiding in the shadows.




    Later that night, as the sun disappeared behind our high garden wall, Germiston became a scary town. After my parents had tucked me in and switched off the light in my new bedroom, I shivered under the clean sheets and heavy blankets. How would it feel to lie on a bed suspended on bricks? What if Maggie turned over in her sleep and, just like I sometimes did, rolled off the edge? She would make a loud thump on the cement floor.




    I almost giggled when, suddenly, an eerie sound spread goose bumps across my arms and legs. It was like nothing I had ever heard before. I thought it belonged to a gruff Tokoloshe.




    ‘Tsa-huuuhhh! Tsa-huuuhhh!’




    It stopped, began again and then drifted away. When it started up a minute later, sounding too far away to be in striking distance, I slid out of bed and crept towards the window. I pulled back the zebra-patterned curtains mom and Maggie had already managed to hang.




    A few natives, wearing balaclavas against the cold, huddled beneath a yellow neon sign outside the shop opposite our house. The shop, a Greek-owned newsagent and corner café, was shut for the night. Despite its blackened windows there was enough light from the Chiclets Chewing Gum sign to allow the crouching boys to play a game of dice. Whenever one of the natives picked up the dice he blew on his hands. Then, he’d flick the little numbered cubes onto the ground with a moan:




    ‘Tsa-huuuhhh! Tsa-huuuhhh!’




    ‘Dad! Dad!’ I shouted. My dad took the stairs two at time with his long legs, and sat on the edge of my bed. The noise of the black boys drifted across the street.




    ‘It’s OK,’ he said. ‘It’s just the natives. You should listen to the trains instead.’




    Germiston was the largest railway junction in Africa and the reason why my dad’s own grandfather had arrived here from Scotland. Great-granddad Donald had been a train driver in Aberdeen and he had found work on the steam locomotives trundling up and down the thousand miles of track stretching from Germiston to Cape Town.




    His son, my granddad George, had followed him to South Africa in 1920. Having recovered from all he had seen as a soldier in World War I, George came in search of a new life. He eventually became a maintenance man at the Victoria Falls Power Company – which soon turned into Eskom. George was then joined by the young woman he had courted in Aberdeen. My granny Netta had crossed the Atlantic on her way to an unknown continent. She was met by George in Cape Town. They were so overcome, after a year apart, they immediately found a magistrate’s court. Within an hour of her arrival, at the bottom of Africa, they were married.




    Granny and Granddad McRae had lived in Germiston ever since. Granddad George had worked at Eskom for forty-five years – just as my own dad was now an Eskom man. Even mom had been an Eskom girl, before she married dad. It was like a big family circle. The old stories worked like a spoken lullaby. I felt soothed by the tip-toeing approach of sleep, and an understanding that we had come a long way to be together again.




    GRANDDAD GEORGE had once been a trained killer. It was still hard to believe. His big craggy face was warm and twinkly and he was always getting into trouble with my stern granny. She scolded him for resting his elbows on the table, for spilling soup on his tie and for falling asleep after Sunday lunch at our house. Having eaten more than he should have done, he usually dozed on the green-cushioned swing under the berry tree. He would open a sleepy eye and wink at me before letting slip a rumbling laugh.




    But if you stuck a gun in his back, Granddad George could flip you over and leave you sprawled on the ground in front of him. He was fast and lethal because, after four years as an infantryman in World War I, he knew how to fight a bayonet-wielding soldier with his bare hands.




    Our granddad was the most honest man we knew; but he had told a lie that almost ended his life. He had only been sixteen when, on 5 August, 1914, he’d joined a battalion of the Gordon Highlanders in Aberdeen. Britain and France had declared war on Germany a week earlier. They knew the Germans planned to storm through Belgium and invade France.




    George felt it was right to stop the Germans. And so he lied about his age and signed up to the famous old regiment of kilt-wearing Highlanders. When he and all the other new young recruits gathered together in Aberdeen they were told the war would be over by that Christmas.




    But Granddad George spent four Christmases in the trenches, hunkered down against the cold, the bullets and the mustard gas. He won four medals for bravery and distinguished conduct, but lost thousands of his fellow Highlanders. Fifteen million people died in the Great War; and dad said it was a miracle Granddad George had survived. It meant we were incredibly lucky, too. Even I had figured out that without granddad there would have been no dad and no me.




    Machine-gun nests, gas masks and hope kept him alive. On the Western Front, granddad always believed he would return home to Scotland and his girl, Netta. He was helped in different ways. Once, after a bad day, with dead bodies all around, George was stunned by the sight of a tiny bird perched on the parapet. The bird, which looked like a robin, lifted its beak toward the black smoke curling up in the sky. George could not understand how a creature so small and delicate could exist in such a nightmarish place. The little bird even had the courage to tweet softly.




    The sounds were usually disturbing. One night, after his battalion had pushed deep into German territory, George’s sleep was ruined by a ghostly groaning. Everyone else was too hurt or exhausted but George edged his way out of the trench. The terrible noise came from a blockhouse to his left. Thinking he might find a wounded Scot or Frenchman, George moved more quickly.




    He peered around a corner of the blockhouse. In the moonlight, he saw a man lying in a stagnant pool of water. The man was dying. A bullet had torn a hole in his grey uniform. He was bleeding from the stomach and his leg dangled at an awkward angle. The German soldier whimpered as George covered him with his coat. He looked into my granddad’s face. George knew it was better to end his agony.




    It was strange to think that our granddad, the gentle and funny man we loved, had seen such sights fifty years before. Granddad George made as laugh; and it felt as if he watched over us.




    Dad said that George had been the same with his own regiment. He won the DCM in 1917, after a disastrous battle when all the officers in his regiment were killed. George took command and organized a ravaged company, bolstering their morale as they kept fighting. He then led them back across the front to safety. We discovered all this only by looking at his war records, and old copies of the Aberdeen Star and London Gazette which granny kept at the bottom of a drawer.




    When the whisky flowed and he was relaxed enough to tell us another story, granddad preferred to talk about people rather than any of his medals. I was entranced most by a graveyard memory.




    On a foggy night in France, the Highlanders were being picked off, one by one. Sometimes an hour or more would pass between killings but the dread was constant. Individual soldiers were shot by an unseen enemy. A German sniper was embedded somewhere near their trench and, with icy accuracy, he killed one Scot after another. George had to bring him down.




    He slipped out of his foxhole and crept towards the area where he thought the sniper operated. But, as the shooter was so quiet, George had to lie in the mud for a long time. He could not risk breaking cover to search for him. But he was sure the man was out there, in the spreading fog.




    Small wooden crosses covered the ground. In this makeshift cemetery George had often helped bury the bodies in freshly-dug mud and secured the footing above each grave with a plank of wood. The crosses were made out of wood stripped from old ration boxes, and prayers would be said. It was better than nothing.




    As he stared at the misty crosses George’s breath caught in his throat. A hundred yards from where he lay, one of the crosses began to tilt. George saw the hole open up in front of him. He was chilled by the sight of a glinting metal gun rather than a ghost. The sniper took his time to rise out of the grave.




    He did not need to expose more than his head and his upper body before he settled into position. George watched the sniper look up and down the Highland trench. He was searching for his next victim. But it was difficult to see in the fog and he soon slipped back down into the grave.




    George was waiting for him when he next lifted the wooden cross and stuck out his rifle and his head. George aimed at the man’s hand with such conviction that the German soldier let his gun fall into the muddy hole. Climbing from the grave, he raised his hands. After spending so long with a corpse he had decided he would be better off being a prisoner. George led the sniper to the camp they had set up for wounded or captured Germans.




    FIFTY YEARS LATER, in the South African sunshine, Granddad George snored softly on our garden swing. After forty-five years of work at Eskom he had retired. A year earlier, in the middle of 1966, he had turned sixty-eight and passed the company’s retirement age. He was lauded at his leaving party, but George did not receive a pension. Four-and-a-half decades of work amounted to nothing in the end.




    My dad was one of the new young stars in the same company. But it had also been a struggle for him. When he passed the first year of his engineering degree, he decided it would not be fair to his parents to expect them to pay for another three years at university. As a maintenance man George earned a meagre salary and university fees were exorbitant. My dad delayed his degree for a few years while he earned a little money as an Eskom apprentice.




    Three years later, Ian McRae became the first Eskom employee to be awarded a company bursary and he was able to return to the University of the Witwatersrand in Johannesburg. He graduated in 1954 and, having delayed their wedding so he could complete his degree, my parents married in Germiston the following year. The Eskom scholarship had been vital, but there was little generosity in their refusal to offer any long-serving workers, like old Granddad George, a pension.




    George had to find another job in retirement. He became the caretaker and groundsman at Germiston High School, where both my parents had been students. Heather and I would eventually go to the same school. Our eldest cousin, Brian, who was nine years older than me, was already there. He had been fourteen in 1966 when granddad began his new role. No-one knew anything about his distinguished war record. He was simply ‘Mr Mac’, the cheery old caretaker happy to tackle any task asked of him.




    Brian had been startled when, on granddad’s first few days in his new school job, George avoided all eye-contact. Whenever they neared each other on the playground or along a corridor, George looked away. Brian thought he must have offended granddad in some way.




    The truth soon emerged. George worried that Brian would feel embarrassed if everyone knew his grandfather worked as a caretaker. But Brian said he could never be ashamed of George. The old Scottish soldier looked down at his teenage grandson and nodded. And, from then on, they greeted each other cheerfully when crossing paths at school.




    Mister Mac became as popular with the teachers and pupils as he was with his army of black labourers who helped him look after the school. He was his usual twinkly self, unless someone stepped across the cricket pitch which had become his most treasured achievement in old age. George was a pure-blooded Scot, until it came to his fervour for producing a wicket as fair as it was true for the very English game of cricket. No-one dared ruin his masterpiece.




    George and Netta lived on Angus Street in the centre of Germiston. The houses on Angus Street were small, but George seemed the happiest man in the world. He loved the fact that his home was in such a Scottish-sounding place. Only a few years before it had been called India Street; but that colonial name had been too brown for Germiston. Echoes of Scotland were all around. Argyll and Bruce and Selkirk Streets were nearby and, a block away, there was even a George Street. It could have been named after our great old granddad.




    WE HAD OUR FIRST family Christmas in Germiston in 1967. In mid-summer, our skins were darker than the light brown berries covering the ground around our garden swing. Yet Heather and I were besotted with snowy white images of Christmas. Our sunny lounge was filled with cards of snowmen and candle-lit scenes of life from a wintry European town. Rosy-cheeked children sledged down Alpine mountains while a beaming Santa skated across a frozen lake. We even had an old ceramic snowman that we stuck on top of an artificial pine tree dad brought up from the cupboard below the stairs. It was as if, being so white in an African country, we needed to imagine what might have been if my grandparents had never moved continents.




    Outside, the grass had been baked yellow after a month without rain. The sky was a shimmering blue, with no sign that the missing storm clouds would bring late-afternoon respite from the heat. We didn’t mind. Christmas was coming and, rather than thinking about the drought, my mind fixed on the piles of presents Father Christmas would leave beneath the plastic pine.




    Christmas Eve delivered something magical first. A giant African sun changed colour from yellow and orange to red and pink as it sank behind the disused gold mines. Despite the feasting mosquitoes, leaving itchy bumps on our arms and legs, the growing darkness brought excitement as we headed west towards Johannesburg – or Egoli, the Golden City, as Maggie called it.




    We were on our way, with my grandparents and cousins, to an early show at His Majesty’s Theatre. It would be a special evening because Kenneth McKellar, the kilt-wearing Scottish tenor, was one of only a few overseas performers willing to risk the world’s scorn by ignoring apartheid and touring South Africa. Granddad George was thrilled. There could be no better start to Christmas and Hogmanay than being surrounded by his family as a great Scot stormed the stage.




    Once Kenneth McKellar appeared, George could not stop himself. Even when granny dug her bony elbow hard into his ribs George refused to lower his booming voice as he sang along. My embarrassment reached a blushing crescendo when, in tandem, the McKellar & McRae duo belted out the toe-curling ‘Donald, Where’s Your Troosers?’ It was as if they were singing a song about me, a little South African boy who had the misfortune of being called Donald. George sang along in delight, his face crinkling with tears of laughter as he looked down at me and echoed the Scottish burr of the man skipping across stage singing:




    

      

        

            

              Let the wind blow high, let the wind blow low,


              Through the streets in my kilt I’ll go,


              And all the lassies shout ‘Hello,


              Donald, where’s your troosers?’


            


        


      


    




    George seemed happier than ever on the drive home, chortling over granny’s grumbling and my near trooser-filling horror during the communal sing-song. By the time we reached our house he was in the mood for a large whisky. He was not usually much of a drinker, Granddad George, but it was Christmas Eve and the Scotch uncorked stories from deep inside him. He spoke in a thick but bubbling broth of an accent. Even when he veered away from the Highlands to Belgium and France, granddad’s dark and gripping war-time tales drew us back into the past and the memory of his first war-time Christmas.




    DECEMBER 1914 marked George McRae’s fifth month as a soldier. He had just turned seventeen, but he was still too young to be an official soldier with the Gordon Highlanders. Some of the officers in the 4th Battalion, to which he had been assigned in August, when he’d first lied about his age, had been suspicious of his boyish looks. He wangled a transfer from the territorial Fourths to the 6th Battalion where the commanders were too in need of fresh troops to bother with birthdates.




    War, said Granddad George, seemed like an adventure at first. A few months away from home were no hardship. The Gordon boys wore their kilts proudly and wrote regularly to those they loved most in Aberdeen, believing they would be home in time for Christmas.




    By late November, however, not long after George had switched to the 6th Battalion on the Western Front, it became plain that the war would not be over for another year or more. The Germans, just like the French and the British, were well stocked with machine-guns and artillery.




    A harsh winter settled across Belgium by early December. The trenches which the Highlanders dug were badly made and soon flooded. They became slimy boltholes where it was hard to keep hopeful. The Highlanders formed part of a thin British and French line which ran south for twenty-five miles from the Ypres Salient to the La Bassée Canal.




    Granddad George said the battle intensified throughout December. Both sides suffered heavy losses and by Christmas Eve the misery was eased only by the arrival of letters from home and a Princess Mary Box for each surviving soldier. The silver box featured a stamped image of the head of the seventeen-year-old Princess Mary, the daughter of King George V and Queen Mary. George’s own seventeen-year-old princess, Netta, waited for him in Aberdeen.




    It was still a treat to get a box from a princess. The contents had been donated by the British public in answer to a nationwide ‘Soldiers’ Christmas Fund’; and the many smokers amongst George’s fellow Highlanders received a box crammed with twenty cigarettes, a pipe and an ounce of tobacco. As George was too young to smoke legally, his box contained a pencil, a small bag of sweets and a standard greeting from Princess Mary, commending his courage.




    George guzzled down his sweets and stamped his mud-caked boots in an effort to warm his feet. At least the shellacking they had received night after night from the Germans had ceased. The rain had also stopped. Some of the men said the weather might even be a little warmer on Christmas Day, when they had been promised a proper meal of cooked beef and plum pudding.




    During the previous three weeks Granddad George’s battalion had suffered frightening losses. But he knew they had inflicted almost as many fatalities on the Germans. Bodies, frozen rigid beneath the snow flurries, were strewn across the 200 yards separating enemy lines. It was too dangerous, even when the firing eased at night, to drag back the Scottish and French corpses.




    On Christmas Eve a light frost had turned the ground glistening white. The black sky above the trenches seemed miraculously starlit. George did not know how long he had been slumped in his trench when a voice murmured that the Germans had been silent for the longest spell anyone could remember. What were they planning? The braver boys peeked out of the trench.




    They were stunned. The Germans had decorated the parapets of their own trenches with candles. A pretty line of flickering light stretched out into the winter night. And, then, it began.




    The sound of men singing filtered across the battleground. It was a haunting and beautiful sound, as Granddad George heard the chorus of ‘Stille Nacht’ – the German version of ‘Silent Night’. Men from the 6th Battalion of the Gordon Highlanders around him soon responded by singing the same song in English, with a Scottish burr to it. The French joined in; and the Germans answered across enemy lines with a different carol. All the guns were stilled, and the night filled with singing. Soldiers shouted ‘Happy Christmas!’ to each other, and a strange peacefulness settled over that small section of the Ypres Salient.




    Christmas came the next morning to the Western Front, just as it did to Aberdeen or Berlin, and it brought the gift of a pale blue sky. Soldiers felt the warmth on their chapped skin. They re-read the latest letters they had received from home. And, still, there was no shooting from either side.




    He could not quite remember how it happened, but George heard something even more incredible as word filtered down from man to man. It was said that further along the trenches some of the Highlanders had begun to leave their foxholes and cross the muddy wasteland separating the armies. The Germans had apparently risen first and, holding their hands high to show that they carried no weapons, they had walked through No-Man’s Land towards the Scottish and French lines. George was told that the Germans had shouted festive greetings across the eerie divide. Some of the Highlanders had answered and, encouraged by the response, they had then climbed out of the trenches to meet the men they were meant to kill.




    A brief truce had been agreed. Soldiers exchanged gifts after it had been decided that each side would collect their dead without being fired at on Christmas Day. George and the other bewildered men in his trench stood in the muddied field that stretched out before them. They could see German soldiers in the distance, 150 yards from where they were now positioned. They felt vulnerable until they saw that the Germans were attending to their own collections and burials. One of the grey-coated German soldiers waved at them, and they waved back.




    Their task was gruesome. They lifted the bodies of men who had been dead for days, often lying face-down in ice-ringed puddles. It was grim work, and it took a few hours to bring back and bury each body they found. At the end they held a Christmas service, and prayed for the men they had just covered with wet earth. They also prayed for the people they had left behind, and they prayed for themselves and even for the men opposite who had shown such humanity.




    The mood soon lightened. They could hear laughter further down the line. Men on their side of the front sounded happy and the reason soon became obvious. They were in the company of German soldiers, shaking hands and speaking to each other in a broken mix of languages. George heard that, less than a mile away, a gaggle of Highlanders and Germans had chased a hare together amid much hilarity. It seemed right that on such a peaceful day the hare should escape.




    He was told that those same Scots and English and even German soldiers kicked a football around for twenty minutes. They ate their lunch in peace; and that informal Christmas truce held all day.




    It could not last. At some point the next day, a ghostly seventeen-year-old version of Granddad George hunkered down again in his trench as machine-guns rattled all around him.




    FIFTY-THREE YEARS LATER, in another country, on a different continent, granddad drained his glass. He had not spilled a drop of whisky on our gold-patterned carpet in the lounge. Granddad George lifted me onto his knee. It was time for bed. Father Christmas was on his way, an old man even kinder and wiser than granddad. He would come to us first, at the bottom of Africa. I did not know if he would brave the townships of Witbank to see Maggie’s children but our Christmas cards told me he’d visit white boys and girls in Scotland and Germany, and just about everywhere else in the world.




    After I had gone upstairs with mom, and changed into my pyjamas, I persuaded her to allow me to go down again to say goodnight to Granddad George. I found him and dad on the side veranda, overlooking the garden. They sat on a couple of comfortable chairs, drinking beer and whisky as they watched a black bat flutter and squeak in the starlit sky. I was afraid of bats, and I huddled into dad. I would be too scared to ever become a soldier.




    Dad’s gaze had settled on the crinkly face of his father. Granddad George had undone the top button of his short-sleeve shirt and loosened his tie. He clinked the ice in his Scotch, and smiled at the sound.




    ‘Happy Christmas, dad,’ my father said as he and granddad George touched glasses.




    ‘Happy Christmas, son,’ granddad said, before turning his watery old eyes on me. ‘And a Happy Christmas to you, laddie.’




    Dad kissed me goodnight and, just before I raced upstairs to join Heather and my mother, Granddad George caught me by the hand. He looked down at my bare legs, thin and chocolate-brown beneath my shortie pyjamas.




    ‘Och, Donald,’ he said, his voice thick with laughter, ‘where’s yer troosers?’
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      A man called Dolly . . . Basil D’Oliveira teaches cricket to his children, 1968


    








  



    

       

    




    CHAPTER THREE





    FORCES FAVOURITES




    EVERY SATURDAY AFTERNOON, on a radio programme called Forces Favourites, they played the same old songs. They were songs for our boys in the army chosen by girls who sent them stacks of love alongside ditties like The Shirelles’s ‘Soldier Boy’ or The Bee Gees’ ‘Gotta Get A Message To You’. Dedications were topped off by Afrikaans slogans like ‘Min dae, baie hare’ [Few days, lots of hair] and ‘Vasbyt’ [Hold on].




    Stretched out on the grass, next to the swimming pool at the Rand Refinery, where they refined most of the world’s gold, I closed my eyes. My mother played tennis at the refinery, where my uncle Frier was the boss, and Heather and I whiled away the afternoon at the pool. Small black dots from the sun danced on the inside of my eyelids as I listened to Forces Favourites, while waiting for the Saturday afternoon sports programme which began at three o’clock.




    It felt like we were locked inside a giant army camp as Pat Kerr, the old honey-voiced presenter, told us about soldiers called Jannie and Karel, Kevin and Gary, and how their girls back home longed to see them. They were asked to stay bright and keep smiling until they got back to Civvie Street. But at their base camps, from Voortrekkerhoogte and Potchefstroom to Upington and Walvis Bay, they needed to ‘Vasbyt’.




    Pat Kerr said the word again and again, her English voice taking on an Afrikaans edge as she pronounced it correctly, replacing the ‘v’ with a flat ‘f’ and lengthening the ‘y’ in ‘byt’ into the more open-ended ‘bait’. Fuss-bait. Vasbyt. We knew that, through her, tearful girlfriends and pregnant wives were telling their soldier boys to hold on through the hard times.




    Being a girl, and too young to have a boyfriend, Heather did not worry about the army. She lay on the other side of the pool and listened to LM Radio, the pop station she was hooked on. LM stood for Lourenço Marques, the capital of Mozambique, and they played the banned Beatles and the devilish Rolling Stones. Broadcast not far from the border where our bravest boys were based, LM played whatever records they liked.




    I kept on listening to the songs and messages for the soldiers keeping us safe. In between Elvis crooning ‘Love Me Tender’ or Petula Clark yelping that we should meet her ‘Downtown’, Pat Kerr’s sunny voice became serious whenever she played a special record for the boys on the border. It sounded as if she was having to fuss-bait herself when she read a message to Piet or Paul and told them to shoot straight and keep their heads down.




    A year earlier, in 1967, it had been made compulsory for every white boy to go into the army once he finished school. A minimum of nine months of military service was essential because, on the border between South-West Africa and Angola, the communists and terrorists were gathering. They wanted to make our millions of natives attack us. We had to stop them.




    That Saturday morning, before Forces Favourites, I had played tennis. To reach the courts at Delville, named after a World War I battleground, I’d cycled over a metal bridge which crossed the railway tracks. The right side of the bridge was signposted for Europeans Only/Slegs Blanke [Whites Only]. It seemed normal that, in English, we should be classified as ‘Europeans’ while, in Afrikaans, the colour of our skin mattered most. The other side of the bridge was reserved for Non-Europeans/Slegs Nie-Blankes [Non-Whites Only].




    No native ever dared walk along the wrong side of the bridge. They would be locked up in jail if they did. Even if a communist told them to break the law they would say ‘Aikona! [No way!]’. My yellow bicycle had freewheeled down the empty white corridor. The high metal barrier separated me from the stream of black people who had just got off the township train and were heading for work in the white suburbs. I could only see the bobbing tops of the coloured doeks worn on the heads of the shortest women. But most of the black men were tall enough to peer over the dented metal wall. A few stared blankly at me flying past them on my bike. But they winked more often and said, ‘Morning, master!’ They did not look like they would ever attack me.




    Our lives were sweet and easy. We already said that very word, ‘sweet’, when we wanted to show we were pleased. See you later? Sweet. Fancy a chocolate milkshake? Sweet. How was that goal? Sweet, my china. ‘China’, taken straight from Cockney rhyming slang, with china plate meaning ‘mate’, had become part of our schoolboy lingo. We were all sweet. We were all chinas.




    We only groaned at the fact that television was banned in South Africa. The government insisted on the ban because they wanted to protect us from communism and racial mixing. Dr Albert Hertzog, the Minister of Posts and Telegraphs, said television would be introduced ‘over my dead body’. Speaking on radio, he said, ‘Friends of mine, recently returned from Britain, tell me that one cannot see a programme which does not show black and white living together, where they are continually propagating a mixture of the two races. We could never allow that.’




    A COLOURED MAN called Dolly changed the way the world looked at us in 1968. Basil D’Oliveira, or Dolly as everyone called him, was quiet and gentle. Eight years earlier, he had left Cape Town so that he might play cricket in England. Dolly had been born two years after my father, in October 1931, and been classified as a Cape Coloured. But he played cricket like a dream; and had scored eighty centuries in the coloured leagues around Cape Town by 1956. He was still not allowed to play cricket against white players, and definitely not at Newlands, the beautiful Test match arena in Cape Town.




    The sports minister, Frank Waring, warned everyone: ‘If whites and non-white start competing against each other there will be such viciousness – as never seen before.’




    Dolly had become so miserable he’d contacted John Arlott, the BBC cricket commentator, in the hope of finding a new life in England. In 1960, with Arlott’s help, D’Oliveira began playing cricket in the Central Lancashire League. It took him four years but, eventually, he made it to county cricket after Worcestershire offered him a contract and he became a British citizen. He took the biggest step of all when, in June 1966, he was selected to play for England against the all black West Indies.




    In 1967, Dolly was named as one of Wisden’s five Cricketers of the Year. He featured regularly in our sports pages. I had begun a scrapbook by then and I cut out pictures of great sportsmen and stuck them down onto the dark blue pages. Sport helped me to become, fleetingly, colour-blind. Alongside photographs of white Springbok sportsmen, like Frik du Preez, the rugby player, Graeme Pollock, the cricketer, and Paul Nash, the sprinter, I pasted in images of my favourite black boxer, Cassius Clay, who was just about to become Muhammad Ali, and of Dolly.




    It still seemed odd that a South African, even a coloured man, might want to become English. Dolly had taken the opposite journey to Dimitri Tsafendas, a white man who had stabbed the prime minister because he wanted to be reclassified as coloured. Basil D’Oliveira, dad explained, was far from mad. He posed a different sort of problem to the government. England were due to tour South Africa in late 1968 and the prospect of D’Oliveira returning to play against the country of his birth turned our politicians purple with anger. Piet Le Roux, the minister of the interior, said: ‘We will not allow mixed teams to play our white teams over here. If this player is chosen he would not be allowed to come here. Our policy is well known here and overseas.’




    We felt isolated. In May 1968 the International Olympic Committee had banned our white team – which meant South Africa was barred from competing in the Mexico City Olympic Games later that year. I asked dad why the world wanted to hurt us. His answer made my head hum.




    Even though they had never met us, people around the world had decided we were unfair to our black natives. It made me mad. They knew nothing about Maggie. I could bet they had never seen a bed on bricks or even heard of the Tokoloshe. How could they say we were unkind to Maggie when we told her jokes and gave her food at every meal? They didn’t know how much we loved Maggie, and how much she loved us.




    Dad said the outside world didn’t understand how we lived in South Africa. They thought things were just black and white when we actually lived in a very colourful and sporting country.




    Alongside football, cricket was my favourite sport. I loved the way dad and I, in early spring, coated my bat with linseed oil. The bat’s willowy face turned golden as a warm smell filled the room. At the age of seven, I could pretend to be Graeme Pollock, the world’s greatest batsman, playing against England at the Wanderers in Johannesburg.




    England were due to arrive in late 1968 for a four-match Test series, where, with Graeme, and his fast bowling brother, Peter Pollock, we would prove we were the best side in the world. But the adults around me and on the sports pages seemed preoccupied by one question: what would happen if England selected Basil D’Oliveira?




    He had just scored 158 to set up England’s victory in the final Ashes Test against Australia. It seemed as if his seat on the plane back to South Africa had been booked – whatever our government might say.
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